DRIGNIL 38

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

MAY 21 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 66,959

STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Appellees.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

On Appeal from the Ninth Judicial Circuit of Florida in and for Orange County (Case No. CI 85-3765)

J. CHARLES GRAY
CAROLYN J. THOMAS
GORDON H. HARRIS
PHILIP H. TREES
THOMAS J. WILKES, JR.

GRAY, HARRIS & ROBINSON, P.A. 201 East Pine Street Post Office Box 3068 Orlando, Florida 32801 (305) 843-8880 Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Statement of the Case

This appeal is before the Court pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(2), of the Florida Constitution and Section 75.08 of Florida Statutes (1983). Appellant, the Orlando Utilities Commission, seeks review of a Final Judgment of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in Orange County denying validation of bonds authorized by OUC for refunding purposes in an amount not to exceed \$950,000,000.

OUC filed a complaint in Circuit Court on March 28, 1985, seeking the validation of the bonds. (A:1) An Order to Show Cause why the bonds should not be validated was entered on March 29, 1985, setting the matter for hearing on April 25, 1985. (A:8) All required publications and service of process were timely effected.

(A:12) The State answered the complaint on April 23, 1985 (A:14); PNI, an intervening nonprofit, politically activist corporation, answered the complaint on April 24, 1985. (A:17)

The hearing was held on April 25, 1985. At the conclusion of OUC's case, its motion to amend the pleadings to conform with the evidence presented was granted without objection. (A:394-95)

After hearing OUC's evidence and legal arguments, the State withdrew its objections to the validation of the bonds:

"The State is not opposed to the validation of the bonds per se. Our main objection at this point now though is the form of the order." (A:402-03)

PNI stated that if bonds were being issued for construction or "manufacturing" [sic] purposes, PNI "would concede that they

[OUC] possibly have implied authority" to issue bonds. (A:408) However, PNI asserted that OUC did not have the authority to issue bonds to refund existing validated bonds. Id.

Circuit Judge W. Rogers Turner denied the complaint for validation by Final Judgment rendered on April 26, 1985, holding:

- (1) That the Plaintiff, ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION...does not have explicit authority to issue bonds as required by Chapter 75, Florida Statutes.
- (2) Based on the evidence presented to this Court, the Court finds that the implied authority relied upon by the Plaintiff, OUC, Chapter 61-2589, Section 2, Laws of Florida, is not sufficient implied authority to allow this Court to depart from the essential requirements of law.
- (3) Each and every bond validation proceeding is separate and distinct and the Court must consider the law and evidence before it to determine the authority of the Commission.
 (A:33)

Notice of Appeal invoking the jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on April 29, 1985. (A:35)

Statement of the Facts

The Orlando Utilities Commission was created in 1923 by the Legislature of Florida for the purpose of managing and controlling the water and electric utility systems of the City of Orlando, Florida. (A:37-48) OUC's powers and authority to act are granted to it by its Charter, Chapter 9861, Laws of Florida (1923) and subsequent amendments and legislation supplemental thereto. (A:37 et. seq.)

Pursuant to the authority granted by its Charter, OUC has

issued hundreds of millions of dollars in bonds and notes since the 1940's to make capital improvements to its water and electric systems and to refund its prior debt. Every previous issue of OUC's bonds and notes (at least thirteen) has been validated by circuit courts in Orange County (A:180-199, 347), and since 1978 OUC has authorized, issued and had validated bonds which have a currently outstanding aggregate principal amount equal to \$580,370,000. (A:180-296) OUC also has tax-exempt commercial paper outstanding in an aggregate principal amount of \$280,000,000.

Id. A description of the issuance dates, types and amounts of the outstanding bonds and tax-exempt commercial paper to be refunded is included in the Appendix. (A:230-31) One of those validated issues of bonds, like the instant case, refunded existing debt. (A:180-85)

In 1982, the final judgment validating OUC's bonds for capital improvements was challenged by a resident of the City of Orlando. This Court found that the challenge was untimely and held that the validation was forever conclusive as to all matters adjudicated against all parties affected by the issuance. Hall v. Orlando Utilities Commission, 432 So. 2d 1318 (Fla. 1983).

Unrefuted testimony was presented at the validation hearing that two major benefits would be derived by OUC and, thus, its customers from the proposed refunding. First, the average interest rate currently payable by OUC on its long term debt would be immediately reduced, thereby reducing debt service costs. (A:346) Second, a restructuring of the bond resolution underlying OUC's

debt would allow different methods of marketing financial obligations of OUC and, ultimately, save money. (A:346,372)

Harry Luff, the General Manager and Executive Vice President of OUC, testified that "the refunding offers a substantial savings" (A:346,361) and that OUC would definitely be at fault if it failed to validate and issue the bonds. (A:361) Mr. Luff's testimony was reinforced by the testimony of John Miller, the national Manager of the Municipal Utilities Department at Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated. Not only did Mr. Miller agree that OUC could realize savings by authorizing refunding bonds, but also he pointed out that "unless the bonds are validated when that market shows up you may miss it and never achieve it." (A:372)

No other witnesses testified. All documents and resolutions authorizing or related to the bonds were submitted by OUC into evidence. (A:49-229, 232-306) These documents included computer calculations of the projected savings of more than \$100,000,000 which could be realized by OUC and its ratepayers if the bonds are validated and issued. (A:305-06)

Neither the State nor PNI offered any witnesses or documentary evidence.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER THE ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION WHICH HAS BEEN ISSUING BONDS FOR ALMOST HALF A CENTURY IN THE FURTHERANCE OF ITS MUNCIPAL UTILITY PURPOSES, HAS THE AUTHORITY TO CONTINUE TO DO SO.

Answer: YES.

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD REVIEW AND SUBSTITUTE ITS JUDGMENT FOR THE PROPERLY CONSIDERED COLLECTIVE BUSINESS JUDGMENT OF THE MEMBERS, PROFESSIONAL STAFF AND CONSULTANTS OF THE ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION.

Answer: NO.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In excess of three-quarters of a billion dollars of OUC's bonds and commercial paper are currently in the hands of institutional and private investors. Under current conditions in the municipal bond market, the refinancing of those obligations through the issuance of the bonds which are the subject of these validation proceedings could save OUC and its customers over one hundred million dollars.

OUC's ability to finance delivery of utility services to the residents of the City of Orlando and Orange County through longterm debt is derived from its Charter and from this Court's holding in the New Smyrna Beach, Key West, Trudnak, Daytona Beach and Evans cases cited in the Argument. Its authority to issue revenue bonds has been expressly recognized by the Legislature. The ability to refinance its debt by issuing bonds for refunding purposes is a necessary corollary to its ability to incur the debt in the first instance, and the authority to do so exists as a matter of law. To hold otherwise requires the Court to ignore fifty years of precedent.

The reasons, advisability of and motives for the proposed refinancing is the responsibility of the issuer, not the trial court, and the trial court's substitution of its business judgment for that of OUC constitutes reversible error.

ARGUMENT

I. SINCE 1938 OUC HAS BEEN FOUND TO HAVE AND HAS EXERCISED THE AUTHORITY TO ISSUE REVENUE BONDS; TO NOW REVERSE OR LIMIT THIS AUTHORITY IS CONTRARY TO A LONG LINE OF WELL REASONED SUPREME COURT CASES, LEGISLATIVE INTENT, PUBLIC POLICY AND COMMON SENSE.

The trial court held as a matter of law that Chapter 75 of Florida Statutes requires OUC to have "explicit" authority for the issuance of bonds. (A:33) This is patently in error. Nowhere in Chapter 75 can such a requirement be found or inferred.

The trial court further held that "based on the evidence presented" OUC did not have "sufficient" implied authority to allow the "Court to depart from the essential requirements of law."

(A:33) However, implied authority is not a matter of degree subject to proof by evidence. Either it exists as a matter of law or it does not. Neither OUC nor any other litigant could ever introduce evidence "sufficient" to justify any court departing from the essential requirements of law.

The trial court's erroneous holding that somehow implied authority is a matter of fact and evidence, rather than a question of law, is repeated in paragraph 3 of the Final Judgment, where the court holds that the issue of authority is an "evidence" question to be determined on a case by case basis. (A:33) The determination as to the authority to issue bonds is de jure, not de facto. The authority of OUC to issue bonds has been judicially determined on numerous occasions and, absent a change in the Charter or general law, is not the proper subject of factual findings.

Of course, OUC must prove that it has followed the requisite procedure for authorizing its bonds by introducing its properly adopted bond resolution and showing that the purpose of the bonds is consistent with OUC's municipal utility purposes. Once this is done, OUC's determination that the bonds should be issued is conclusive, and its business judgment is not subject to trial court review.

With the exception of the instant case, OUC's authority to issue bonds has been confirmed by Florida courts for almost half a century. Proof of the resolution and the purpose of the bonds should not be confused with the legal question of authority to issue the bonds, as the trial court has apparently done. The only type of evidence that could affect OUC's authority to issue these bonds would be evidence of fraud, evidence of a violation of legal duty, or evidence that OUC exceeded its statutory purposes. There is no such evidence in this case.

The decision by the trial court is contrary to a long and well reasoned line of cases by this Court, contrary to statutory law, contrary to public policy and contrary to common sense. It impairs the credit and good name of OUC, and it should be reversed.

A. CHAPTER 75 DOES NOT REQUIRE "EXPLICIT" OR EX-PRESS AUTHORITY TO VALIDATE BONDS; EVERY CASE APPLYING THE DOCTRINE OF IMPLIED AUTHORITY IN BOND VALIDATION PROCEEDINGS NECESSARILY AFFIRMS THIS FACT.

Chapter 75 of Florida Statutes (1983), which governs bond validation, does not require "explicit" or express authority for the issuance of bonds. Instead, Section 75.02 provides, in pertinent part, that:

Any ... municipality ... or other political district or subdivision of this state ... may determine its authority to incur bonded debt or issue certificates of debt and the legality of all proceedings in connection therewith.... For this purpose a complaint shall be filed in the circuit court....

No language in the statute requires either allegation or proof of express legislative grant of authority to issue bonds. On the contrary, an extensive line of cases decided by this Court over a span of some fifty years establishes that bonds may be validated and issued under implied authority. The entire doctrine of implied authority rests on the fact that the legislature does not require express authority. This is a practical and common sense approach to the needs and variations of public financing. The legislature's intent is apparent. To now hold that express authority is required would reverse a long line of cases and disrupt municipal utility financing and operations throughout Florida at a time of dramatic growth in population, commerce and industry.

B. IN SEEKING TO VALIDATE ITS BONDS, OUC ACTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND IN RELIANCE UPON ITS IMPLIED AUTHORITY ESTABLISHED BY HOLDINGS OF THIS COURT, JUST AS IT HAS DONE ON NUMEROUS OCCASIONS OVER THE PAST FIVE DECADES, AND SHOULD NOT NOW BE TOLD THAT SUCH IMPLIED AUTHORITY IS "NOT SUFFICIENT".

OUC's Charter, when read in connection with numerous decisions of this Court, clearly grants it the implied authority to finance.

In 1961, the legislature amended the Charter, granting to OUC the following express and implied authority:

Section 1 The ... Commission is hereby authorized to acquire, establish, construct, maintain and/or operate electric generating plants, electric lines and facilities incident thereto within the boundaries of Orange County ... and to construct and maintain electric lines and water mains in, along and under all public highways and streets throughout Orange County for the purpose of conveying water and/or electric current

Section 2. The Orlando Utilities Commission and the City of Orlando be and they are hereby authorized to do all things necessary or required to carry into effect the provisions of this act. Ch. 61-2589, Laws of Florida¹ (A:46-47)

The same year the legislature enacted this amendment, this Court issued its opinion on rehearing in City of New Smyrna Beach v. State, 132 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1960), the culmination of a long line of cases holding that the express authority of a public utility to construct, operate and maintain electric and water utilities and to do all things necessary or required to effect such express powers implies the authority to incur long term debt payable from the revenues of the utility.

In New Smyrna Beach, the city requested the validation of \$1,500,000 in bonds to be paid solely from the revenues of the city's water and electric system and to be issued without referendum approval. The trial court invalidated the bonds because the city's charter granted express authority only to

¹Section 2 of Chapter 61-2589, Laws of Florida, was inexplicably never codified in the City Code for the City of Orlando. Nevertheless, it is still law and has never been amended or repealed.

issue bonds which (i) pledged both the income of the city's utility system and its utility property and (ii) were approved at referendum. Id. at 146. The city did not pledge the property of its utility system and did not conduct a referendum. The trial court refused to validate the bonds, reasoning that the charter's express grant of authority to finance in one manner precluded financing in some other manner. In its initial opinion, this Court agreed. Id. at 147.

One year later, this Court granted rehearing, reversed itself, and validated the bonds. In its opinion on rehearing, the Court held that the express authority in the city's charter to incur debt in one form did not preclude the implied power to incur debt in other forms. To reach its decision, this Court necessarily held that the express power to construct, operate and maintain a utility implies the power to incur debt:

...Our analysis of other decisions leads us to the conclusion that implicit in the power to construct the utility is the power to finance it by any legitimate means. ... Id. at 148. [emphasis supplied]

* * *

In State v. City of Miami, Fla., 113 Fla. 280, 152 So. 6, we took cognizance of the fact that in the operation of a self-supporting revenue producing utility a municipality exercises a proprietary function. ...it was explicitly held that a municipality could exercise this type of financing power whether or not it acted under special legislative authority given it to do so. In other words, the power to finance in this fashion was implicit in the power to maintain the utility. Id. at 149. [emphasis supplied]

In New Smyrna Beach, the Court cited with approval State v.

City of Key West, 153 Fla. 226, 14 So. 2d 707 (Fla. 1943). In Key

West, the city proposed to issue bonds to acquire an electric

light and power system; the bonds were to be payable solely from

the revenues to be derived from the operation of the system after

its acquisition. The city had the express power "to establish,

purchase, lease, condemn or otherwise acquire an electric utility

... and to do all things necessary to that end." Id. at 708.

However, the city had no express power to issue the bonds which

were the subject of the validation proceedings. Nevertheless,

this Court held that the city's express powers described above

implied the power to issue revenue bonds to acquire the system.

Id.

This Court reached similar decisions in several cases preceding New Smyrna Beach and Key West. In Trudnak v. City of Ft. Pierce, 135 Fla. 573, 185 So. 353 (1938), the city tried to issue water and electric revenue certificates for expansion of its utility system; a taxpayer sought an injunction on the argument, among others, that Ft. Pierce had no authority to issue the certificates. The Ft. Pierce charter provided, in pertinent part, that:

... the City Commission shall have power ... to establish, maintain and operate plants ... for lighting and heating by electricity ... and to supply the inhabitants of said city with artificial light, heat, and power for domestic, business and other purposes

* * *

The City Commission shall have power to construct, establish, and maintain water works, ... and do <u>such other things as may be necessary</u>, essential, or convenient ... for procuring and distributing an abundant supply of good wholesome water to the inhabitants of said city <u>Id</u>. at 355-56. [emphasis supplied]

Regarding the taxpayer's contention, this Court held that:

It is well settled that under such charter provisions municipalities may issue revenue certificates, payable solely from revenues of the involved utilities, to produce necessary funds to make necessary improvements and betterments of municipally owned utility plants. Id. [emphasis supplied]

In <u>State v. City of Daytona Beach</u>, 118 Fla. 29, 158 So. 300 (1934), the city authorized water revenue certificates for expansion of its water system. The certificates were characterized by this Court as "borrowing the present value" of anticipated future water revenues, to be repaid solely from such revenues of the water system. <u>Id</u>. at 301. The trial court validated the certificates and intervenors appealed, arguing that the city did not have the power under its charter to incur the debt. Id.

The charter for Daytona Beach at that time granted the city the power

... to construct, establish and maintain waterworks ... and to do such other things as may be necessary, essential or convenient for procuring and distributing an abundant supply of good ... water.... <u>Id</u>.

The charter granted no express power to Daytona Beach to incur the debt, but this Court decided that the city's implied powers were sufficient:

The authority given to the city of Daytona Beach by its charter to construct, establish, and maintain a municipal waterworks in its proprietary capacity, and to do all things that may be necessary, essential, or convenient for the purpose of procuring and distributing a supply of good and wholesome water ... is legally sufficient to enable the city in its proprietary capacity to anticipate its water revenue collections in order to raise the funds needed to provide for essential additions and facilities to its plant to enable the system to serve the purpose for which the statutes provide it shall be maintained. Id. at 304.

The New Smyrna Beach, Key West, Trudnak and Daytona Beach cases control this appeal. Just as in those four cases, OUC has authorized bonds payable solely from the revenues of its utility systems. (A:272) Like the charters in those four cases, OUC's Charter contains no express authority to issue revenue bonds; however, like the charters in those four cases, OUC's Charter authorizes OUC to

acquire, establish, construct, maintain and/or operate electrical generating plants ... and facilities incident thereto ... and to construct and maintain electric lines and water mains ... for the purpose of conveying water and/or electric current ... [and] to do all things necessary or required to carry into effect [its express powers]. §§ 1 and 2, Ch. 61-2589, Laws of Florida (A:46-47)

Finally, in each of those four cases, the utility system was owned and operated by a municipality; similarly, by statute OUC is part of the government of the City of Orlando. Charter, § 1. (A:37)

Thus, under the line of cases initiated with <u>Daytona Beach</u> and culminating with New Smyrna Beach, OUC's Charter unquestion-

ably grants it the implied authority to finance in any legitimate manner, including the issuance of long term revenue bonds.

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