JUN IL 1985 CLERK, SUPREME DURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 66,959

STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Appellees.

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

On Appeal from the Ninth Judicial Circuit of Florida in and for Orange County (Case No. CI 85-3765)

ROBERT EAGAN, State Attorney Ninth Judicial Circuit

KEITH JOHNSTONE Assistant State Attorney 250 N. Orange Avenue Orlando, FL 32802 (305) 420-3794

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Special Acts conferring authority upon the OUC grant it only the power to incur short term debt. When long term debt is specifically mentioned in the Acts relating to the OUC, the issuer is always the City of Orlando--not the OUC. This court has found that municipalities having bond issuing authority under the Constitution and General Laws of Florida also have revenue bond issuing authority under their charters, based on the power to do what is necessary or required to carry into effect their enumerated powers. This court has never ruled that an entity like the OUC, having no power to incur long term debt under general law, has such power implied by the "necessary or required" authority in its charter.

This is a case of first impression. The court may decide the OUC's bond issuing authority either way without being inconsistent with prior decisions. This court should exercise the judicial restraint exercised at the trial level. It should be left to the Legislature to decide whether to expand the OUC's bond issuing power, and what controls on that power are necessary. The Legislature is better equiped to study the many public policy considerations relating to the OUC's accountability and the expanded use of revenue bonds in the 1980's.

If the Court should find that the OUC has bond issuing authority, the next issue is whether the proposed bond issues are within that authority. The OUC argues that the business judgement rule controls that issue.

There is a long line of cases handed down by this court holding that if the bond issuer has the authority and lawfully exercises that authority, the business judgements of the issuer will not be reviewed at the bond validation hearing. This business judgement rule prevents the addressing of issues not within the scope of Chapter 75 at the bond validation hearing. Whether refunding existing bonds is within the Orlando Utilities Commission's authority is the primary issue for determination at the validation hearing. The business judgement rule is not a substitute for authority. The rule is never dispositive of the issue of whether an issuer has the authority for a proposed bond issue.

One of the bond issues is for the purpose of refunding \$280,000,000 in bond anticipation notes. These notes must be paid or refunded in the near future. This bond issue appears necessary and thus within the OUC's authority to do what is necessary or required.

The second purpose of the proposed bond issue is for refunding about \$580 million in existing bonds. The facts are undisputed that refunding these bonds could potentially result in savings in annual debt service, but savings are not guaranteed. The bond resolution does not require that savings result, or that the bond issue be necessary or required. The OUC's proposed final validation order does not remedy the defect. If the proposed order were signed, it would permit the issuance of bonds outside the Orlando Utilities Commission's authority. City of Miami v State does not permit validation of bonds that might be valid. The bonds must in fact be valid when the authorizing resolution is complied with and conformed to.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT TO RULE THAT THE OUC LACKED AUTHORITY TO ISSUE LONG TERM BONDS, BECAUSE IT DID NOT HAVE EXPRESS STATUTORY AUTHORITY AND THERE ARE NO STATE SUPREME COURT DECISIONS UPHOLDING THE BOND ISSUING AUTHORITY FOR A SIMILAR GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY.

The OUC was created and made a part of the government of the City of Orlando by a special act of the Florida legislature in 1923. The OUC was given "full authority over the management and control of the electric light and water works plants in the City of Orlando."

Chapter 9861, Laws of Florida (1923). In Section 7 of The Act the OUC was granted the authority to borrow up to 10% of the book value of its plants for up to 6 months. It was not authorized to pay over 8% interest and borrowing had to be approved by the Orlando City Council.

Chapter 9862, Laws of Florida (1923) authorized the Utilities Commission to borrow \$250,000 for up to 2 years.

In 1923 the OUC's borrowing authority was clear: \$250,000 for up to 2 years, and 10% of the plant's book value for up to 6 months. If more money was needed it could be borrowed by the City of Orlando pursuant to Section 3 of Chapter 9862, Laws of Florida (1923):

If at any time within 2 years after the passage of the Act the City of Orlando should under proper authority issue bonds of said City for the improvement or further extension of the electric light and water works plants of said City the promissory notes authorized to be issued under Section 1 of this Act shall be out of and from the proceeds derived of the said bonds." [Emphasis added]

The 1923 Acts were amended and supplemented by Chapter 10968, Laws of Florida (1925), Chapter 13198, Laws of Florida (1927), Chapter 24758, Laws of Florida (1947), Chapters 31075 through 31080 and 31012, Laws of Florida (1955), Chapter 61-2589, Laws of Florida (1961), Chapter 80-560 (1980) and Chapters 82-415 and 82-343, Laws of Florida (1982).

The 1925, 1927 and 1955 amendments did not affect the OUC's borrowing authority. Chapter 24758, Laws of Florida (1947) allowed the OUC to pledge sewer revenues to repay bonds issued by the City of Orlando for sewer improvement. Chapter 61-2589, Laws of Florida (1961) provided for the OUC to acquire, construct and operate electric generating plants and "to do all things necessary or required to carry into effect" those provisions. Chapter 82-415, Laws of Florida (1982) extends the short term borrowing power from 6 months to 3 years, increases the debt limitation from 10% of book value to 50% of total assets and does away with the requirement of City Council approval for short term borrowing.

To summarize the 1923 Act and its amendments, short term financing is specifically provided for, but no mention is made of long term borrowing by the Orlando Utilites Commission. Long term financing is mentioned in the Special Acts twice, in 1923 and again in 1947. Both times the City of Orlando was the issuer, not the OUC.

Although there is no specific authority for the OUC to incur long term debt, the Appellant argues that the authority is present because municipalities have issued revenue bonds with authority quite similar to the "necessary or required" authority granted to the OUC in 1961.

Appellant cites: <u>Trudnak v City of Ft. Pierce</u>, 135 Fla. 573, 185 So. 353 (1938), <u>State v City of Daytona Beach</u>, 118 Fla. 29, 158 So. 300 (1934),

<u>State v. City of Key West</u>, 153 Fla. 226, 14 So.2d 707 (1934), <u>City of New Smyrna Beach v. State</u>, 132 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1960).

The holding of these cases grant implied powers to municipalities having similar "necessary or required" language in their charters.

"It is well settled that under such charter provisions <u>municipalities</u> may issue revenue certificates, payable solely from revenues of the involved utilities, to produce necessary funds to make necessary improvements and betterments of <u>municipally owned utility plants</u>. [Emphasis supplied] <u>Trudnak v. City of Ft. Pierce</u>, supra at 356.

There is an important distinction between the instant case and these cases involving municipalities. The cities of Daytona Beach, Fort Pierce, Key West and New Smyrna Beach had authority under general law and the Florida Constitution to issue bonds. Ch. 169, Fla. Stat. (1933), Art. IX, § 6, Fla. Const. These municipalities did not issue bonds under the authority of Chapter 169 because it required approval of a majority of the voters and placed strict limitations on the amount of bonds issued. § 169.01, § 169.04, Fla. Stat. (1933). The municipalities thus sought to issue bonds under the implied authority of their municipal charters to get around these restrictions. Supreme Court, aware that the municipalities had bond issuing authority under general law, allowed these cities to issue revenue bonds under the less restrictive implied authority of their charters. This Court appreciated the difference between self-liquidating revenue bonds and bonds repaid through ad valorem taxation. Eventually the legislature recognized that revenue bonds did not need the same protections for the taxpayers as did bonds repaid through ad valorem taxation, and the Revenue Bond Act of $1953^{\frac{1}{2}}$ was enacted.

1. Ch. 28045, Laws of Florida (1953)

The OUC enjoys neither the powers granted to municipalities by the Revenue Bond Act of 1953 nor the Municipalities Home Rule Powers Act of 1973, because it is not a municipality. The Fifth District Court of Appeals described the OUC's relationship with Orlando as follows:

"The City/OUC tandem is a unique and strange one. The City and its electors have no control over the OUC; but neither does the OUC have control over the City. The OUC is answerable to no taxpayer or voter group, although it is a public utility. This situation is created by State Law and it can only be changed by State Law." Gaines v. City of Orlando, 450 So.2d 1174 at 1182 (Fla.5thDCA,1984)

The Appellant contends that <u>City of Orlando v. Evans</u>, 132 Fla. 609, 182 So. 264 (1938) granted the OUC power to issue bonds. In <u>Evans</u> the City of Orlando sought to enjoin Mr. Evans and the other OUC members from purchasing a generator. The generator was to be purchased on a retain title contract with one-third down and the balance to be paid over a long term. The OUC planned to use \$100,000 of their customers' deposits as part of the down payment. The City alleged that the OUC was without authority to dispose of its customers' deposits, that the purchase was unnecessary, that the purchase would result in a long term debt and pledge of credit without the City Council's approval, and that the purchase was arbitrary and unreasonable.

The court phrased the issue in Evans as:

"Has the Utilities Commission of the City of Orlando, under Chapter 9861, Special Acts of 1923, as amended by Chapter 10968, Special Acts of 1925, the power or authority to make expenditures and obligations jointly approximating \$645,000, partly in cash and evidenced by retain title contract therefor for the sole and only purpose of making extensions and enlargements of the electric light plant of the City of Orlando without the approval of the City Council or a vote of the people of said City?" Id at 226.

The Court answered the question in the affirmative, based on its decision in State v. City of Daytona Beach, supra, and several other cases which did away with the nuisance of holding an election for revenue bond issues.

Evans was not a bond validation case and the OUC's power to borrow money over a long term was not specifically challenged by the City. The Court, taking a very narrow approach, did not address that issue. The issue of whether the OUC could spend customers' deposits was specifically raised and the court still did not address it.

The OUC purchased the generator on a retain title contract because it could not have validated bonds in 1938 for the purpose of purchasing the generator, having only the authority to borrow for up to six months. The OUC felt it had effectively "bootstrapped" authority to issue bonds after Evans was decided, and by pleading its authority with studied vagueness was able to issue bonds for decades based on assumed authority.

The <u>Evans</u> case did not create authority where none previously existed. If <u>Evans</u> conferred the power upon the OUC to issue bonds, it also granted trustees in Florida the power to spend trust funds for their own purposes.

Because there is no general or special law granting the OUC specific authority to issue bonds and no Supreme Court case conferring bond issuing authority on a non-municipality, the trial judge was

correct to exercise judicial restraint and refuse to validate the bonds.

Public policy dictates that this Court exercise similar restraint and leave to the legislature expansion of revenue bond issuing authority.

News reports have disclosed that revenue bonds have defaulted at an alarming rate recently. The rate of default is a problem resulting from the increased use of revenue bonds and should be considered before any decision increasing implied powers of bond issuers is rendered.

The federal budget deficit is believed by many to threaten the economic well being of this nation. Tax free local government bonds contribute to the deficit problem. Refunding issues contribute doubly because the refunded bonds are not immediately retired, but usually continue earning tax free interest until maturity. Bond covenants allow defeasance once U.S. Treasury instruments adequate to retire the refunded bonds at maturity are deposited in trust for the benefit of holders of refunded bonds. Refunding of refunding bonds permits the Treasury to be denied taxation on interest income on three generations of bonds at the same time.

Close scrutiny and healthy skepticism is necessary when multimillion dollar profits are involved in a business transaction.

Refunding is such a situation. Testimony reveals that the underwriting spread is about 2.7%, (A:380-381) which on a \$950,000,000 bond issue translates to about 25.6 million dollars in income to various underwriters, attorneys and consultants. The profit involved in bond issues invites abuse if adequate controls are not in place.

We recognize that the likelihood of default, the growing federal budget deficit and the enormous income to be earned by those involved in a bond issue are issues not within the scope of a bond validation hearing. If the issuer has the authority and has complied with the law, a proposed refunding bond issue should be validated even if the underwriters, attorneys and consultants receive \$10 for every \$1 saved by the issuer.

Nonetheless, this court, faced with the decision of whether to expand the implied powers to issue bonds or to refuse to do so, may find that these factors warrant leaving any expansion of the OUC's power to the Legislature where it can attach any strings deemed necessary to make the OUC accountable to the people of Orlando or the City.

II. A PLAINTIFF SEEKING TO VALIDATE A PROPOSED BOND ISSUE UNDER CHAPTER 75 MUST ALLEGE IN ITS COMPLAINT AND PROVE THE AUTHORITY TO ISSUE THE BONDS, AND IF THAT AUTHORITY IS BASED ON THE ISSUER'S AUTHORITY TO "DO EVERYTHING NECESSARY OR REQUIRED" TO CARRY OUT THE POWERS SPECIFFICALLY GRANTED IN ITS CHARTER THEN IT MUST PROVE AT THE VALIDATION HEARING THAT THE BOND ISSUE IS IN FACT NECESSARY OR REQUIRED.

The purpose of a bond validation proceeding is so that the issuer "may deteremine its authority to incur bonded debt or issue certificates of debt and the legality of all proceedings in connection therewith." § 75.02, Fla. Stat. (1983).

The OUC's authority to incur bonded indebtedness is based on its authority "to do all things necessary or required" to carry into effect its power to construct electric plants and supply power.

Clearly a refunding issue that is not necessary or required is beyond the authority of the OUC. Whether the refunding of existing bonds is

necessary or required is a proper subject for a bond validation hearing.

In the typical bond validation proceeding the authority of the issuer is specifically provided for by general or special law. When the authority to incur bonded indebtedness is present and the legality of all proceedings connected with the bond issue is proven, then the bonds will be validated without inquiry into the issuer's business judgement regarding the necessity of the issue.

In <u>Town of Medley v. State</u>, 162 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1964) this Court reversed the trial court who refused to validate the proposed bond issue because it "was unreasonable and not financially and economically feasible." The Court found that the town had the authority to issue the revenue bonds and that it exercised that authority in accordance with the law. These were the only issues properly presented in a bond validation hearing and this Court was correct in reversing the trial court, even though it agreed with some of its findings. The Medley decision was followed in <u>State v. Manatee County Port Authority</u>, 171 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1965). This Court refused to consider whether the port facilities project, built and financed pursuant to Chapter 315, Florida Statutes (1963), was fiscally sound.

As pointed out in Appellant's brief, the business judgement rule is applicable for refunding issues when the issuer has the authority and exercises that authority within the law. State v. Florida State Turnpike Authority. 134 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1961).

The Turnpike Authority cases are somewhat analogous to this case. In the first of the three Turnpike cases² the location of the southern terminus was challenged; in the second case³ the northern terminus was challenged. The Court ruled that the route of the turnpike was a proper question to raise at a bond validation hearing.

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